A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Peter James Carr, defendant and appellate below, seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Carr seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming his convictions for child molestation in the first degree and communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. State v. Peter Carr, No. 68815-4-I.

A copy of the Court of Appeals decision, dated February 18, 2104, is attached as Appendix A. A copy of the March 26, 2014, order denying Mr. Carr's motion for reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

C. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

1. A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. Peter Carr was convicted of child molestation in the first degree based upon testimony that he brushed his hand across a girl's clothed chest for one second while passing her in a retail store. Did the Court of Appeals unconstitutionally affirm Mr. Carr's conviction by finding sexual motivation based upon an inference from equivocal evidence, and is the Court of Appeals decision therefore in conflict with

this Court's opinion in <u>State v. Vasquez</u>, 178 Wn.2d 1 (2013) and the Court of Appeals decision in <u>State v. Powell</u>, 62 Wn. App. 914 (1991)?

- 2. Prosecutorial misconduct may violate the defendant's due process right to a fair trial. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The prosecutor appealed to the juror's prejudices and fears of sex offenders by adding her interpretation of Mr. Carr's thoughts and motivations to her discussion of the facts of the case, her descriptions of the facts were not supported by the evidence, and she told the jury that it had to convict Mr. Carr if it believed the two victims, thus misrepresenting her burden of proof. The Court of Appeals found that the prosecutor committed misconduct by appealing to the juror's fears and prejudices about sex offenders and misstating the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, but concluded that misconduct was not so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it could not have been cured with a limiting instruction. The Court of Appeals also held that the prosecutor did misrepresent the facts of the case. Was Mr. Carr's constitutional right to a fair trial violated where the prosecutor's repeated misconduct was so flagrant and illintentioned that the prejudice could not be erased by curative instructions?
- 3. The Sixth Amendment guarantees the right to effective assistance of counsel. Mr. Carr's attorney moved to sever the two charged counts for trial, but waived the issue by not renewing it at or before the

close of the evidence. The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Carr's argument that counsel was ineffective, finding that trial counsel had tactical reasons not to renew the motion. Mr. Carr was prejudiced by the jury's use of the evidence of one count to prove criminal intent in the other, and he was embarrassed by raising separate defenses to each count. Where any conscious decision not to renew Mr. Carr's motion to sever was not reasonable, was Mr. Carr's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel violated?

- 4. The crime of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes requires the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant communicated with a minor for the predatory purpose of promoting the child's exposure to or involvement in sexual misconduct. A child in a retail store saw Mr. Carr's pants part-way down, revealing his undergarment. Mr. Carr had asked her an innocuous question earlier, but the girl did not know if Mr. Carr knew she was nearby. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, must Mr. Carr's conviction be reversed in the absence of evidence he communicated with a minor for an immoral sexual purpose? U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV.
- 5. Due process requires that statutes be drawn precisely enough that citizens have fair warning of what conduct is prohibited and the law will not be arbitrarily enforced by law enforcement or the courts. U.S.

Const. amend. XIV. Mr. Carr was convicted of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes when he inadvertently exposed his underwear to a minor. Is the statute unconstitutionally vague as applied to his conduct?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Peter Carr resided in Federal Way, worked at an airport parking facility, and regularly shopped at nearby thrift shops including Deseret Industries and Goodwill. 3/29/12 RP 888-89; 4/2/12 RP 4-5, 7, 33-34, 40. He was convicted of first degree child molestation and communicating with a minor for immoral purposes for two separate incidents occurring in thrift shops in June 2011. CP 68-69. He is currently serving a life sentence for child molestation, with a 68 month minimum term, and he received a consecutive 364-day suspended sentence for communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. CP 74, 80. The Court of Appeals affirmed both convictions, and Mr. Carr seeks review in this Court.

1. Count 1. Eight-year-old M.L. shopped at the Deseret Industries thrift store with her mother and two sisters several times a week. 3/21/12 RP 176-78; 3/26/12 RP 458; 3/27/12 RP 533, 536-37. Her mother, Alma Lopez Ochoa, always kept M.L. and her little sister close to her when they were in the store. 3/21/12 RP 175, 179-80; 3/27/12 RP 540-41.

On June 4 or June 11, 2011, a man in the store touched M.L's chest area with his hand; the touch was outside her clothing and lasted only one second. 3/26/12 RP 424; 3/27/12 RP 545-56, 584-85; Ex. 4 at 9. The man did not look at M.L., say anything to her, or make any sounds. 3/27/12 RP 585.

M.L. went to her mother and asked to leave the store, but Mrs. Lopez continued shopping for about 20 minutes. 3/21/12 RP 198; 3/26/12 RP 412-13, 465-66. At the store and later that evening M.L. told her mother what happened, but she could not describe the man. 3/21/12 RP 191-95, 199-210; 3/26/12 RP 471-73. Instead of reporting the incident to the police or store personnel, Mrs. Lopez brought M.L. and her sisters back to the store two or three times in hopes that M.L. would recognize the man. 3/21/12 RP 202-04, 216; 3/26/12 RP 469, 475. On June 17, 2011, M.L. pointed out Mr. Carr, and her family notified store personnel. 3/21/12 RP 205-06, 219-20; 3/26/12 RP 477, 490-91, 3/26/12 RP 397; 3/27/12 RP 592. She also identified Mr. Carr in court. 3/27/12RP 573-74.

. Mrs. Lopez was certain the incident was on June 4 or June 11 between about 11:30 a.m. and noon. 3/26/12 RP 424-25. Mr. Carr worked from 5 a.m. to 2 p.m. on both days. 3/29/11 RP 893-94; Ex. 56. Mr. Carr testified that he did not touch M.L. in the Deseret thrift store. 4/2/12 RP 13.

2. Count 2. Nine-year-old K.W. was shopping with her mother at Goodwill in Federal Way on June 21, 2011. 3/28/12 RP 647-48, 686. K.W. was in the girls' clothing section within view of her mother, who was shopping nearby. 3/28/12 RP 650, 687. When K.W. arrived in the girls' clothing area, she saw a man looking at a gymnastics leotard, and he asked K.W. if she liked the garment. 3/28/12 RP 689, 691. K.W. did not respond and went to different aisle, and the man moved away. 3/28/12 RP 691-93.

Later K.W. saw the man from about ten feet away scratching his buttocks with his pants lowered so that underwear was visible. 3/28/12 RP 694-97, 706. K.W. described the underwear as a sparkly pink bikini bottom. 3/28/12 RP 695-96. The man was looking down, not at K.W., and then he stood up. 3/28/12 RP 696-97. After glancing at the man, K.W. joined her mother. 3/28/12 RP 701.

K.W. told her mother what she saw as they left the store, and her mother reported the incident to the police. 3/28/12 RP 657, 703. K.W. provided a description of the man, but she did not identify Mr. Carr in court. 3/28/12 RP 703-05, 708.

Mr. Carr testified he saw a girl looking at him when he shopping for women's swimming suits at Goodwill. 4/2/12 RP 15. He felt awkward and asked her if she liked the one-piece suit he had in his hand.

4/2/12 RP 17-19. Mr. Carr was wearing a women's pink one-piece swim suit under his clothing that day, and he crouched down to adjust it because it had ridden up and was painful. He did not realize anyone was watching. 4/24/12 RP 21-22, 65-68.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. Mr. Carr's child molestation conviction is based upon an unsupported inference of sexual motivation, raising an important constitutional issue. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the conviction is in conflict with State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1 (2013) and State v. Powell, 62 Wn. App. 914 (1991).

The intent to commit a crime may be proved by circumstantial evidence, but this Court has made it clear that intent may not be inferred from equivocal evidence. State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 6, 309 P.3d 318 (2013); State v. Bergeron, 105 Wn.2d 1, 20, 711 P.2d 1235 (1991); see State v. Randhawa, 133 Wn.2d 67, 77-78, 941 P.2d 661 (1997) (addressing evidence required for inference of intent instruction). The Court of Appeals determination that a reasonable juror could find Mr. Carr touched an intimate part of M.L.'s body for purposes of sexual gratification is based upon an inference that is unsupported by the evidence. Review should be granted because this is an important constitutional issue and the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Vasquez and a decision of the Court of Appeals, State v. Powell, 62 Wn.

App. 914, 917, 816 P.2d 86 (1991), rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992). RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

It is well settled that due process requires the State to prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I § 22. On appellate review, the court must determine "whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979) (emphasis omitted); Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d at 6.

The essential elements of child molestation in the first degree are that the defendant touched the sexual or intimate parts of a child under the age of 12 for the purpose of sexual gratification. RCW 9A.44.010(2); RCW 9A.44.083(1); State v. Stevens, 158 Wn.2d 304, 309-10, 143 P.3d 817 (2006). M.L. testified that Mr. Carr touched her clothing above her left breast area one time for approximately one second. 3/27/12 RP 543-46, 574-74, 584-85; accord Ex. 3 at 7, 9-10.

A child interview specialist interviewed M.L. and asked her to demonstrate the motion of the man's hand five times during their

interview. Ex. 4. Four times, M.L. made a quick swipe of her hand high across her chest; the remaining time she quickly moved her hand back and forth once. Ex. 4. M.L's older sister saw M.L.'s earlier demonstration, and she described the touch as a "swipe." 3/26/12 RP 472, 507-08. The man did not say or make any sounds. Ex. 3 at 9, 11.

The intent to commit a crime is often proved by circumstantial evidence, but "intent may not be inferred from evidence that is 'patently equivocal.'" Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d at 8 (quoting State v. Woods, 63 Wn. App. 588, 591, 821 P.2d 1235 (1991), in turn quoting Bergeron, 105 Wn.2d at 20). Instead, criminal intent may be inferred only if "the defendant's conduct and surrounding facts and circumstances plainly indicate such as intent as a matter of logical probability." Id. (quoting Woods, 63 Wn. App. at 592).

In Mr. Carr's case the eight-year-old complaining witness said that a man briefly brushed his hand over her clothed chest in a public area. Relying on <u>Harstad</u>, the Court of Appeals found a rational juror could conclude from this evidence that Mr. Carr acted for purposes of sexual gratification. Slip Op. at 8 (citing <u>State v. Harstad</u>, 153 Wn. App. 10, 21-22, 218 P.3d 624 (2009)). In <u>Harstad</u>, however, there was ample evidence of sexual gratification, as the defendant was "breathing hard" as he moved his hands around one child's "private area" while they were under a

blanket on the couch, and the child also described the defendant masturbating in the kitchen and said he asked to see her "pussy." <u>Id</u>. at 19-20. Unlike <u>Harstad</u>, the evidence in Mr. Carr's case is equivocal, and the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with Vasquez.

The Court of Appeals previously held that an inference of the sexual gratification element arises when an unrelated adult touches a child's sexual or intimate parts when not performing a caretaking function. Powell, 62 Wn. App. at 917. When the touching is over the child's clothing or not in a primary erogenous area, however, additional evidence of sexual gratification is required to ensure that the touching was not equivocal. Id. In Powell, a man visiting a child's home placed his hand on her underpants when he was lifting her off his lap and also touched her thighs outside her clothing another time. Id. at 916. The Court of Appeals reversed the defendant's convictions due to the absence of proof of sexual gratification, noting the first touch was "fleeting" and both were outside the girl's clothing. Id. at 918.

The facts and circumstances of this case – a one-second touch of a child's clothed chest area in public store – do not establish that the touching was for purposes of sexual gratification as a matter of logical probability. The Court of Appeals opinion affirming Mr. Carr's conviction for first degree child molestation is thus in conflict with this

Court's decision in <u>Vasquez</u> and the Court of Appeals decision in <u>Powell</u>. In addition, whether a shopper may be convicted of first degree child molestation when he brushes a clothed child with his hand is an important constitutional issue. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3).

2. Prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument denied Mr. Carr a fair trial, and this Court should review the Court of Appeals decision that the prejudice could have been cured by an instruction.

Mr. Carr contends the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by appealing to the jurors' passions and prejudice against sex offenders, using language that misstated the evidence, and misstating the burden of proof. The Court of Appeals agreed that the prosecutor's inflammatory argument and misstatement of the burden of proof was improper, but denied relief because defense counsel did not interpose an objection to the misconduct. Slip Op. at 15-20. This Court should accept review because the prosecutor's argument was so prejudicial that it could not have been cured by additional jury instructions, thus violating Mr. Carr's constitutional right to a fair trial. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Due Process Clause protects a criminal defendant's right to a fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 22. The prosecutor, as a quasi-judicial officer, has a duty to act impartially and to seek a verdict

free from prejudice and based on reason. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314 (1935); State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). When the prosecutor commits misconduct in closing argument, the defendant's constitutional rights to due process and a fair trial may be violated. In re Personal Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703-04, 286 P.3d 673 (2012); Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 676.

In reviewing a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, the appellate court must first decide if the comments were improper and, if so, whether a "substantial likelihood" exists that the comments affected the jury verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Where the defendant does not object to the improper argument, the reviewing court may still reverse the conviction if the misconduct is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that the resulting prejudice would not have been cured with a limiting instruction. Id. at 760-61. This case presents the Court with an excellent vehicle to address whether misconduct could have been cured with jury instruction when the prosecutor outrageously appeals to the juror's prejudices and fear, uses inflammatory language the misrepresents the evidence, and misstates the burden of proof.

A prosecutor may not appeal to the passions and prejudices of the jury or ague based upon facts not in evidence. <u>Glasmann</u>, 175 Wn.2d at

704; Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 678; State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 508-10, 755 P.2d 174 (1988); RPC 3.4(e). In Mr. Carr's case, the prosecutor began her closing argument with an inflammatory discussion in which she purported to explain Mr. Carr's thoughts and actions to the jury, picturing him as a predator seeking vulnerable girls. 4/3/12 RP 3-9.

The prosecutor claimed, for example, that Mr. Carr went to

Deseret Industries to find a little girl, chose ML because she spoke

Spanish, waited for the perfect opportunity to "claim his treasure" and
then "slithered away." Id. at 3-4. The prosecutor also posited "how
excited [Mr. Carr] must have been" when he found KW at the Goodwill
store, having picked the store because of the low income clientele. Id. at
7-8. She argued that the two incidents showed Mr. Carr's overall desire to
grope and expose himself to young girls. Slip Op. at 20. None of these
arguments were supported by the evidence. Finally, the prosecutor
concluded her rebuttal closing argument by telling the jury, "He is the guy
that parents warn their kids about. Find him guilty." Id. at 44.

Division Two found that a prosecutor committed misconduct when he describing the defendant's purported thought processes in the first person. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 542, 553-54, 280 P.3d 1158, rev. denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025 (2012). "By arguing in the first person singular, the prosecutor inflamed the prejudice of the jury against Pierce

by attributing repugnant and amoral thoughts to him – thoughts that were based on the prosecutor's speculation and not the evidence." <u>Id</u>. at 554. Similarly, the prosecutor's mind-reading and baseless interpretation of Mr. Carr's mental state to depict Mr. Carr as a predator was misconduct. Slip Op. at 20. The Court of Appeals, however, found the conduct would have been cured if counsel had objected. Slip Op. at 20.

The prosecutor also committed misconduct by using inflammatory words in her closing argument that exaggerated the evidence. See 4/3/12 RP 9 ("We're here because this guy likes to grope little girls, and he gets a thrill from exposing himself to them, and that is all. Plain and simple.")

The prosecutor repeatedly argued that Mr. Carr "groped" M.L.'s breast. 4/3/12 RP 4, 9, 11, 20, 42. The evidence, however, does not support the use of the word "grope," which is a slang term for sexually fondling.

Dictionary.com. The prosecutor also repeatedly argued that Mr. Carr "exposed himself" to K.W. 4/3/12 RP 9, 12, 18, 21, 42. K.W. testified that she saw the man's underwear and not his privates. 3/18/12 RP 701.

The prosecutor's repeated use of words like "exposed himself" and "groped" in closing argument misstated the facts presented at trial in an effort to appeal to the juror's fears and prejudices. The Court of Appeals,

 $[\]frac{^{1}\ www.dictionary.reference.com/browse/grope?s=ts}{Dictionary}\ (last\ viewed\ 4/24/14).$

however, found that the prosecutor fairly characterized the evidence presented at trial. Slip Op. at 18-19

In addition, the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the burden of proof, arguing that the jury had to convict Mr. Carr if they believed the two girls:

If, as you sit in that deliberation room, you can say, "I believe M[.] or I believe K[.] that is enough to end your inquiry. That is enough to convict the defendant.

4/3/12 RP 25. It is misconduct to argue in a manner that reduces the government's high burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 26-27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008), cert. denied, 556 U.S. 1192 (2009); Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 759-60. The Court of Appeals agreed the argument constituted misconduct, but the misconduct would not have been prejudicial if defense counsel had objected and the court given a curative instruction. Slip Op. at 16-18.

The prosecutor's appeal to the jurors' prejudices against sex offenders who prey on children by relating her personal interpretation of Mr. Carr's thoughts and actions and her use of emotionally-charged language that misrepresented the facts of the case was flagrant misconduct. Given the facts and issues in this case, it would be difficult, if not impossible, to cure this problem with a jury instruction, as it defies human nature to expect jurors to put these powerful emotions aside,

especially in a case involving children. <u>See Belgarde</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 507-08; <u>Pierce</u>, 169 Wn. App. at 556.

The prosecutor's misstatement of the burden of proof was also flagrant and ill-intentioned. The prosecutor was certainly aware of both her burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and the importance of not denigrating that burden of proof in closing argument.² She nonetheless urged the jury to decide the case based upon its view of the complaining witnesses' credibility alone. A jury instruction would not cure the prejudice given the attraction of this simplistic form of decision-making to the jurors.

The Court of Appeals looked at each instance of alleged misconduct individually. The cumulative impact of repetitive prejudicial misconduct may be so flagrant that no instruction can erase the combined prejudicial effect. State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 73, 298 P.2d 500 (1956); Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 556. Here, too, Mr. Carr was so prejudiced by the cumulative

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