RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 04, 2014, 2:24 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90268-2

RECEIVED

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

PETER CARR,

Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONNA L. WISE Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650



##

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If this Court accepts review of this case, the State seeks cross-review of the following additional issues the State raised in the Court of Appeals, which were either not reached by the Court or were decided adversely to the State:

1. The Court of Appeals concluded that Carr did not establish ineffective assistance of counsel because there were legitimate tactical reasons not to renew his motion to sever, so the performance of counsel was not deficient. As an alternative ground to affirm, the State renews its argument that Carr did not establish ineffective assistance of counsel because there is no reason to believe that the trial court would have reversed its initial ruling.

-1-

2. The Court of Appeals concluded that a statement of the prosecutor in closing argument improperly shifted the burden of proof, but there was no objection to the remark and the Court concluded the error could have easily been remedied by a curative instruction, so the error was not reversible. As an alternative ground to affirm, the State renews its argument that in the context in which the statement was made, it was not improper.

3. The Court of Appeals concluded that the prosecutor's reference to the defendant as "the guy that parents warn their kids about" was improper because it was inflammatory, but there was no objection to the remark and the Court concluded the error could have easily been remedied by a curative instruction, so the error was not reversible. As an alternative ground to affirm, the State renews its argument that given the facts of this case, this remark was a fair response to the defenses offered by Carr, and was not improper.

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Peter Carr, was convicted of child molestation in the first degree, based on his assault on 8-year-old

- 2 -

ML,<sup>1</sup> and of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes, based on his communication with 9-year-old KW, both occurring in June 2011. CP 47-48, 68-69. The relevant facts are set forth in the State's briefing before the Court of Appeals. Brief of Respondent at 3-11.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in a unanimous unpublished opinion. <u>State v. Carr</u>, 68815-4-I (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 18, 2014).

#### E. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

The petition for review misstates one of the holdings of the Court of Appeals. In the list of issues presented, the petitioner represents that the Court of Appeals "held that the prosecutor did misrepresent the facts of the case." Pet. at 2. The Court of Appeals actually held that the prosecutor did <u>not</u> misrepresent the facts of the case, stating:

The prosecutor did not misrepresent facts. Carr's claim of error stems from his misapprehension of the evidence in the record.

Carr, slip opin. at 18-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The children who are named victims are referred to by initials in an attempt to protect their privacy. For the same reason, the State has not used the names of the relatives of the children, instead identifying each relative by that relationship.

The State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the issues raised by Carr in his petition for review, which comprise all of the issues raised in the Court of Appeals. If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of corresponding issues it raised in the Court of Appeals but that the Court's decision rejected or did not address. RAP 13.4(d). The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are inapplicable because the State is not seeking review, and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the alternative arguments raised by the State in the Court of Appeals, which it believes are consistent with existing law. RAP 1.2(a); RAP 13.7(b). Those arguments are summarized below and set forth more fully in the briefing in the Court of Appeals.

# 1. CARR DID NOT ESTABLISH INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that Carr did not establish ineffective assistance of counsel because there were legitimate tactical reasons not to renew his motion to sever the charges, so the performance of counsel was not deficient. <u>State v.</u> <u>Carr</u>, slip op. at 12-15. If this Court grants review on this issue, the

State cross-petitions to preserve its argument that Carr has not established that failure to renew the motion was deficient performance, or that it was prejudicial, because he has not demonstrated that there was a reasonable chance the court would have reversed its ruling, and because the court had ruled the evidence of the two crimes was cross-admissible, so evidence of both would have been heard even in separate trials.

To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is based on the failure to renew a motion to sever, Carr must show that the failure to renew the motion was deficient performance and must show both that the motion would likely have been granted and that, if severance had been granted, there is a reasonable probability that the jury would not have found him guilty. <u>State v.</u> Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 884, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

There was a legitimate reason for Carr's counsel not to renew the motion to sever – the trial court already had denied the motion and there was no significant change in circumstances to suggest that the court would reverse its original decision. A claim of ineffective assistance cannot be based on a matter of trial strategy. <u>State v. Cienfuegos</u>, 144 Wn.2d 222, 227, 25 P.3d 1011 (2011). Counsel is not ineffective for declining to pursue a strategy

that reasonably appears unlikely to succeed. <u>State v. McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-37 & n.2, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

The pretrial severance motion was fully litigated. The trial court concluded that the incidents were "clearly" cross-admissible, as "fairly strong evidence" admitted for a valid purpose: to establish motive, intent and common scheme or plan. 3/15/12 RP 4. The court concluded that cross-admissibility was not unduly prejudicial, and that the State had strong evidence as to each count. Id. at 5. The court also concluded that the jury would not consider the evidence for any improper purpose and offered to give a limiting instruction if requested by the parties. Id. Carr did not assert prejudice to his ability to present separate defenses. CP 155-56.

In the Court of Appeals, Carr argued a renewed severance motion would have been granted because it was "then clear the evidence of each count was not cross-admissible." App. Br. at 27. Carr cited no new evidence at trial that was relevant to crossadmissibility.<sup>2</sup> In this petition, he has abandoned that argument. If anything, the court's conclusion that the evidence was crossadmissible was strengthened when Carr claimed that he may have accidentally exposed himself to KW and that he always bumped

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  The propriety of the original ruling as to cross-admissibility of the evidence of the two incidents has not been challenged in this appeal.

into people walking down the aisles at Deseret Industries, the store in which the incident with ML occurred. Each incident was relevant to rebut the defense of accident. ER 404(b); <u>State v. Price</u>, 127 Wn. App. 193, 205, 110 P.3d 1171 (2005), <u>aff'd</u>, 158 Wn.2d 630, 146 P.3d 1183 (2006).

Carr has not established deficient performance because the decision not to renew the motion was reasonable, where there was no reason to believe that the trial court would reverse its previous ruling. Even if defense counsel should have renewed the motion, Carr has not demonstrated prejudice: first, because he has not established that the trial court would have reversed its ruling, and second, because the court had ruled the evidence of the two offenses cross-admissible, so all of the same evidence would have been admitted at any separate trial and there is no reason to believe that the jury's verdicts would change.

#### 2. THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENT DID NOT SHIFT THE BURDEN OF PROOF.

The Court of Appeals concluded that one statement in the prosecutor's closing argument improperly shifted the burden of proof. <u>State v. Carr</u>, slip op. at 16-17. The court noted that there was no objection to that statement, and the jury had been properly

instructed as to the burden of proof. <u>Id</u>. The court concluded that because the error could easily have been remedied by a curative instruction, Carr is not entitled to reversal. <u>Carr</u>, slip op. at 17-18. If this Court grants review on this issue, the State cross-petitions to preserve its contention in the Court of Appeals that, based on the context of this statement, the prosecutor did not misstate the burden of proof.

In her initial closing argument, the deputy prosecutor twice reminded the jury that it was the State's burden to prove the elements of the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. 4/3/12 RP 9-10, 24. The context of the statement at issue makes it clear that the prosecutor was not arguing that the jury was required to convict if they believed the victims, but that evidence beyond the testimony of the victims was not required to meet the burden of proof. That argument is not error.

This section of the argument, which is all in a single paragraph in the transcript, began with a statement of the State's burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt:

The State's burden of proof in a criminal case is proof beyond a reasonable doubt. And you have a definition in your instructions of what a reasonable doubt is. It's one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt that would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly and carefully considering the evidence or lack of evidence.

4/3/12 RP 24. The prosecutor discussed that definition of

reasonable doubt. Id. at 24-25. The prosecutor continued:

When you go back into that jury room and you start deliberating, and finally you get to talk about this case with each other, you do not check your common sense at the door. You take that in there with you and you use it during your deliberations. It doesn't mean that you go back into the jury room and start making up possibilities about things that are not supported by the evidence. When the defense stands up before you and presents his arguments, listen to everything he has to say. And when you do, ask yourself, "Okay, well, is that reasonable? Is that possibly reasonable? Is it supported by any evidence at all?" And if not, that doesn't rise to a reasonable doubt. If, as you sit in that deliberation room, you can say, "I believe [ML]," and you can say, "I believe [KW]," that is enough to end your inquiry. That is enough to convict the defendant. You may be sitting there right now, reluctant to convict the defendant because there hasn't been any evidence that you see on CSI in this case; right? There is no DNA, there is no fingerprints. We had some video, but none of the video actually caught the crimes on tape, unfortunately. But the law doesn't require that. The law, I mean, it would be nice if we strapped cameras on to our children before they left the house every day, just in case they would be attacked by a predator that day, but it doesn't work that way. If you can accept the testimony of a credible witness, that's all that the law says that you need to do in order to convict somebody. In this case, you have got more than enough. You have got the testimony of [ML], her sister, her mother, all of the witnesses that you heard from Deseret. You have got the testimony of [KW], the testimony of her mother, the police officers, plenty of witnesses. All of them played parts in putting together this puzzle that shows that defendant is guilty.

-9-

Id. at 25-26.

The challenged remark must not be viewed in isolation, but "in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the instructions given to the jury." <u>State v. Brown</u>, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), <u>aff'd on other grounds</u>, <u>Uttecht v. Brown</u>, 551 U.S. 1 (2007). The context of these remarks demonstrates that the prosecutor was arguing that no scientific evidence or recording of the crimes was necessary in order to satisfy the State's burden. The prosecutor was arguing that the testimony of the girls, if believed, was enough to support convictions. That is not incorrect or error.

Before the State's rebuttal closing argument, the trial court expressed concern that this remark could be burden shifting. 4/3/12 RP 39. Even when the court suggested the possibility of an error, Carr did not indicate that he believed that there was any error or request a curative instruction. This makes it apparent that even defense counsel did not believe the remark was misleading or prejudicial given the entire context of the instructions and the State's argument as a whole.

#### 3. THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENT WAS NOT AN IMPROPER APPEAL TO PASSION OR PREJUDICE.

The Court of Appeals concluded that the prosecutor erred when she concluded her rebuttal argument with the statement "He is the guy that parents warn their kids about. Find him guilty." <u>State v. Carr</u>, slip op. at 19-20. There was no objection to that argument in the trial court, however, and the Court of Appeals properly concluded that such an error was not incurable, so it was not reversible error. <u>Id</u>. If this Court grants review on this issue, the State cross-petitions for review of the holding of the Court of Appeals that this argument was improper.

The prosecutor's statement may have been inartful, but it made a legitimate point: that the defendant's motive was sexual gratification, that he did not brush by ML in a crowded store aisle and experience a wardrobe malfunction while standing in front of KW, as he claimed at trial.

The evidence at trial established that Carr targeted the two young girls who were the named victims, and had contact with ML for sexual gratification and with KW for the predatory purpose of sexual misconduct. A prosecutor is not prohibited from describing the defendant based on the crimes proven in the current case. The

- 11 -

Supreme Court has held that a defendant charged with child rape is properly referred to as a rapist if the evidence supports that inference. <u>State v. McKenzie</u>, 157 Wn.2d 44, 57-58, 134 P.3d 221 (2006) When sex offenses are the subject of a trial, any discussion of the facts could inflame passion and prejudice. There is no dispute that the victims in this case, who were 8 and 9 years old, were little girls. The evidence established that Carr preyed upon them for purposes of his sexual gratification.

This was rebuttal argument and the prosecutor was responding to the defense theory of the case, which was that there was an innocent explanation for everything that Carr did. 4/3/12RP 40-44. Just before making the challenged remark, the prosecutor described the defense theory as that Carr was "an incredible victim of unfortunate circumstance." 4/3/12RP 44. She continued by saying that Carr "is not the victim here" as the defense would have the jury believe, but "He is the guy that parents warn their kids about." 4/3/12RP 44. This was intended to convey that the defendant was not an innocent victim of circumstance but was sexually motivated, a proper subject of argument. In this context, it was not improperly inflammatory and the decision of the Court of

- 12 -

Appeals may be affirmed on that basis as well as the grounds upon which it did rely.

## F. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross-review of the issues identified in Section C and E, supra.

DATED this  $4^{71}$  day of June, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

DONNA L. WISE, WSBA #13224 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent Office WSBA #91002